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  This abridgment of Vincent van Gogh’s letters to his brother Theo, his mother, and artist friends Anton van Rappard and Paul Gauguin is based on The Letters of Vincent

  van Gogh to His Brother Volumes 1 and 2 (1927), Further Letters of Vincent van Gogh to His Brother (1929) and Letters to an Artist: from Vincent van Gogh to Anton Ridder van

  Rappard (1936), all originally published by Constable & Co. Ltd.




  In this version, just a fifth of the original length, I have tried to reflect Vincent’s life-long passion for art, for nature, for peasant life, for walking (and for all things English),

  and his long and painful search to find true self-expression and loving relationships. For his development as a painter was hampered by too much poverty, his love of women too zealous, his

  relations with family and friends too turbulent, and his final descent into mental illness horribly ironic, happening just when he had at last found his own unique style. For the sake of brevity,

  then, some, though by no means all, of his discussions about fellow artists and Theo’s work as an art-dealer, as well as a host of thank you letters to Theo for money received have had to be

  omitted.




  Without the steadfast financial and emotional support of Theo, ‘my best friend, my brother’ – to whom most of these letters are addressed – Vincent would never have been

  able to evolve as an artist. Sadly Theo outlived Vincent by only six months. After their deaths, these letters were lovingly collected, assembled and numbered by Theo’s wife Johanna, whose

  Memoir formed the introduction to their original publication and is now included in full in this book.




  Because not all of Vincent’s letters were dated, where possible an estimation of the approximate date has been given in square brackets. The numbering of the letters

  represents Johanna’s original numbering system. Letters with a number followed by the letter R are taken from Letters to an Artist: from Vincent van Gogh to Anton Ridder van

  Rappard.




  E.P.




  February 2003




  




     

  




  Memoir of Vincent van Gogh


  By His Sister-in-law
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  The family name, van Gogh, is probably derived from the small town Gogh on the German frontier, but in the 16th century the van Goghs were already established in Holland.

  According to the ‘Annales Généalogiques’ of Arnold Buchelius, there lived at that time a Jacob van Gogh at Utrecht ‘In the Owl behind the Town Hall,’ and Jan

  Jacob’s son, who lived ‘In the Bible under the flax market’, selling wine and books, was Captain of the Civil Guard.




  Their coat-of-arms was a bar with three roses, which is still the family crest of the van Goghs.




  In the 17th century we find many van Goghs occupying high offices of state in Holland. Johannes van Gogh, magistrate of Zutphen, is appointed High Treasurer of the Union in 1628; Michel van

  Gogh, at first Consul General in Brazil, afterwards treasurer of Zeeland, belongs to the Embassy that welcomes King Charles II of England on his ascent to the throne in 1660. In about the same

  period, Cornelius van Gogh is a Remonstrant clergyman at Boskoop, and his son Matthias, at first a physician at Gouda, is afterwards clergyman at Moordrecht.




  In the beginning of the 18th century the social standing of the family is somewhat lowered. A David van Gogh, who settled at the Hague, is a gold-wire drawer, like his eldest son Jan, who

  married Maria Stalvius, both belonging to the Walloon Church.




  David’s second son, Vincent (1729–1802), was a sculptor by profession, and is said to have been in Paris in his youth; in 1749 he was one of the Cent Suisses. [A Swiss infantry corps

  formerly attached to the personal guard of the King of France.] With him the practice of art seems to have come into the family, together with fortune; he died single and left

  some money to his nephew Johannes (1763–1840), the son of his elder brother Jan van Gogh.




  This Johannes was at first a gold-wire drawer like his father, but he afterwards became a Bible teacher, and clerk in the Cloister Church at the Hague. He was married to Johanna van der Vin of

  Malines, and their son Vincent (1789–1874) was enabled, by the legacy of his great uncle Vincent, to study theology at the University of Leiden. This Vincent, the grandfather of our painter,

  was a man of great intellect and extaordinarily strong sense of duty. At the Latin school he distinguished himself and won all prizes and testimonials; ‘the diligent and studious youth,

  Vincent van Gogh, fully deserves to be set up as an example to his fellow students for his good behaviour as well as for his persistent zeal,’ declares the rector of the school, Mr de Booy,

  in 1805. At the University of Leiden he finishes his studies successfully, and graduates in 1811 at the age of twenty-two. He makes friends; his ‘album amicorum’ preserves their memory

  in many Latin and Greek verses; a little silk embroidered wreath of violets and forget-me-nots, signed, E. H. Vrydag 1810, is wrought by the hand of the girl who became his wife as soon as he got

  the living of Benschop. They lived long and happily together, first at the parsonage of Benschop, then at Ochten, and from 1822 at Breda, where his wife died in 1857, and where he remained until

  his death, a deeply respected and honoured man.




  Twelve children were born to them, of which one died in infancy; there was a warm cordial family feeling between them, and however far the children might drift apart in the world, they remained

  deeply attached and took part in each other’s weal and woe. Two of the daughters married high placed officers, the Generals Pompe and Graeuwen; three remained single.




  The six sons all occupied honourable positions in the world. Johannes went to sea and reached the highest rank in the navy, that of Vice-Admiral; at the time that he was commandant of the Navy

  Yard at Amsterdam in 1877, his nephew Vincent lived at his house for a time. Three sons became art dealers; the eldest Hendrik Vincent, ‘Uncle Hein’ as he was called in the letters, had

  his business at first at Rotterdam and afterwards settled at Brussels. Cornelius Marinus became the head of the firm C. M. van Gogh, so well known in Amsterdam. (His nephews often called him by his

  initials C. M.) The third, who had the greatest influence on the lives of his nephews Vincent and Theo, was Vincent, whose health in his youth had been too weak to enable him to

  go to college, to the deep regret of his father, who based the greatest expectations on him. He opened a little shop at the Hague, where he sold colours and drawing materials, and which he enlarged

  in a few years to an art gallery of European renown. He was an extraordinarily gifted, witty and intelligent man, who had great influence in the world of art at that time; Goupil in Paris offered

  him the partnership in his firm, which only after van Gogh joined it reached its highest renown. He settled in Paris and Mr Tersteeg became the head of the firm in the Hague in his place. It was

  here that Vincent and Theo got their first training in business; Goupil was ‘the house’ that played such a large part in their lives, where Theo remained and made a successful career,

  where Vincent worked for six years, and to which his heart clung in spite of all, because in his youth it had been to him ‘the best, the grandest, the most beautiful in the world’

  [letter Autumn 1883].




  Only one of parson van Gogh’s six sons chose the profession of his father. Theodorus (8 February 1822–26 March 1885) studied theology at Utrecht, graduated, and in 1849 got the

  living of Groot-Zundert, a little village in Brabant on the Belgian frontier, where he was confirmed by his father. Theodorus van Gogh was a man of prepossessing appearance (‘the handsome

  dominie’ he was called by some), of a loving nature and fine spiritual qualities, but he was not a gifted preacher, and for twenty years he lived forgotten in the small village of Zundert ere

  he was called to other places, and even then only to small villages like Etten, Helvoirt and Nuenen. But in his small circle he was warmly loved and respected, and his children idolized him.




  In May 1851 he married Anna Cornelia Carbentus, who was born in 1819 at the Hague, where her father Willem Carbentus was a flourishing bookbinder. He had bound the first Constitution of Holland

  and thereby earned the title of ‘bookbinder to the King’. His youngest daughter Cornelia was already married to Vincent van Gogh, the art dealer; his eldest daughter was the wife of the

  well-known clergyman Stricker at Amsterdam. The marriage of Theodorus van Gogh and Anna Carbentus was a very happy one. He found in his wife a helpmate, who shared with all her heart in his work;

  notwithstanding her own large family that gave her so much work, she visited his parishioners with him, and her cheerful and lively spirit was never quenched by the monotony of the quiet village

  life. She was a remarkable, lovable woman, who in her old age (she reached her 87th year), when she had lost her husband and three grown-up sons, still retained her energy and

  spirit and bore her sorrow with rare courage.




  One of her qualities, next to her deep love of nature, was the great facility with which she could express her thoughts on paper; her busy hands, that were always working for others, grasped so

  eagerly not only needle and knitting needle, but also the pen. ‘I just send you a little word’ was one of her favourite expressions, and how many of these ‘little words’

  came always just in time to bring comfort and strength to those to whom they were addressed. For almost twenty years they have been to myself a never failing source of hope and courage, and in this

  book, that is a monument to her sons, a word of grateful remembrance is due to their mother.




  On the 30th of March 1852 a dead son was born at the vicarage of Zundert, but a year after on the same date Anna van Gogh gave birth to a healthy boy who was called Vincent Willem after his two

  grandfathers, and who in qualities and character, as well as in appearance, took after his mother more than after his father. The energy and unbroken strength of will which Vincent showed in his

  life were, in principle, traits of his mother’s character; from her also he took the sharp inquisitive glance of the eye from under the protruding eyebrows. The blonde complexion of both the

  parents turned in Vincent to a reddish hue; he was of medium height, rather broad shouldered, and his appearance made a strong, sturdy impression. This is also confirmed by the words of his mother,

  that none of the children except Vincent was very strong. A weaker constitution than his would certainly have broken down much sooner under the heavy strain Vincent put upon it. As a child

  he was of difficult temper, often troublesome and self-willed, and his bringing up was not fitted to counterbalance these faults, as the parents were very tender-hearted especially for their

  eldest. Once grandmother van Gogh, who had come from Breda to visit her children at Zundert, witnessed one of the naughty fits of little Vincent; she who had been taught by experience with her own

  twelve babies, took the little culprit by the arm and with a sound box on the ears put him out of the room. The tender-hearted mother was so indignant at this that she did not speak to her

  mother-in-law for a whole day, and only the sweet-tempered character of the young father succeeded in bringing about a reconciliation. In the evening he had a little carriage brought around, and

  drove the two women to the heath, where under the influence of a beautiful sunset they forgave each other.




  Little Vincent had a great love for animals and flowers, and made all kinds of collections; of any extraordinary gift for drawing there was as yet no sign; it is only noted that at the age of

  eight he once modelled a little elephant of clay, that drew his parents’ attention, but he destroyed it at once when according to his notion such a fuss was made about it. The same fate

  befell a very curious drawing of a cat, which his mother always remembered. For a short time he attended the village school, but his parents found that the intercourse with the peasant boys made

  him too rough, so a governess was sought for the children of the vicarage, whose number had meanwhile increased to six. Two years after Vincent a little daughter had been born and again two years

  later on the 1st of May 1857, came a son who was called after his father. After him came two sisters and a little brother. (The younger sister Willemien, who always lived with her mother, was the

  only one to whom Vincent wrote on rare occasions.) Theo was more tender and kind than his brother, who was four years older; he was more delicately built and finer featured, but of the same reddish

  fair complexion and he had the same light blue eyes, that sometimes darkened to a greenish blue.




  In letter 338 [of 1883] Vincent himself describes the similarity and the difference in their looks, and in 1889 Theo wrote to me the following about Vincent’s appearance, referring to

  Rodin’s marble sculpture, the head of John the Baptist. ‘The sculptor has conceived an image of the precursor of Christ that exactly resembles Vincent. Yet he never saw him. That

  expression of sorrow, that forehead distorted by deep furrows, which denotes high thinking and iron self discipline, is Vincent’s, though his is somewhat more sloping; the form of nose and

  structure of the head are the same.’ When I afterwards saw the marble I found in it a perfect resemblance to Theo.




  The two brothers were strongly attached to each other from childhood; whereas the eldest sister, recalling youthful memories, speaks of Vincent’s teasing ways. Theo only remembers that

  Vincent could invent such delightful games, that once they made him a present of the most beautiful rose bush in their garden, to show their gratitude. Their childhood was full of the poetry of

  Brabant country life; they grew up among the cornfields, the heath and the pine forests, in that peculiar sphere of a village parsonage, the charm of which remained with them all their lives. It

  was not perhaps the best training to fit them for the hard struggle that awaited them both; they were still so very young, when they had to go out into the world, and with

  what bitter melancholy, and with what inexpressible home-sickness did they long during many years for the sweet home in the little village on the heath.




  Vincent came back there several times, and remained always in appearance the ‘country boor’, but Theo, who had become quite a refined Parisian, also kept in his heart something of

  the ‘Brabant boy’ as he laughingly liked to call himself.




  Like Vincent once rightly observes: ‘there will always remain in us something of the Brabant fields and heath’, and when their father had died and mother had to leave the parsonage,

  he complains, ‘now there is none of us left in Brabant’. When afterwards, in the hospital of Arles the faithful brother visited him and in tender pity laid his head on the pillow beside

  him, Vincent whispered: ‘just like Zundert’, and shortly after he writes: ‘during my illness I have seen every room in the house at Zundert, every path, every plant in the garden,

  the fields around, the neighbours, the churchyard, the church, our kitchen garden behind it – and even the magpie’s nest in the high acacia in the churchyard’ [letter 573 of 23

  January 1889].




  So ineffaceable were those first sunny childhood’s recollections. When Vincent was twelve years old he was sent to the boarding school of Mr Provily at Zevenbergen; about this period not a

  single particular has been found, except that one of the sisters afterwards writes to Theo: ‘Do you remember how on mother’s birthday Vincent used to come from Zevenbergen and what fun

  we had then?’ Of friends in that time nothing is known.




  When he was sixteen years old the choice of a profession became urgent and in this Uncle Vincent was consulted.




  The latter, who meanwhile had acquired a large fortune as an art dealer, had been obliged by his feeble health to retire early from the strenuous business life in Paris – though still

  financially connected with the firm – and had settled at Princenhage, near his old father at Breda, and near his favourite brother at Zundert. Generally he passed the winter with his wife at

  Mentone in the south of France, and on his journey thither he always stayed some time at Paris, so that he remained in touch with the business. His beautiful country house at Princenhage had been

  enlarged by a gallery for his rare picture collection, and it was here that Vincent and Theo received their first impressions of the world of art. There was a warm cordial intercourse between the

  Zundert parsonage and the childless home of Princenhage; ‘the carriage’ from there was always loudly cheered by the children at Zundert, for it brought many

  surprises of flowers, rare fruits and delicacies, while on the other hand the bright, lively presence of the brother and sister from Zundert often cast a cheerful sunbeam on the life of the patient

  at Princenhage. These brothers, Vincent and Theo too, who differed but one year in age, were thoroughly attached to each other, and the fact of their wives being sisters made the attachment

  stronger still. What was more natural than that the rich art dealer destined the young nephew who bore his name as his successor in the firm – perhaps even to become his heir?




  Thus in 1869 Vincent entered the house of Goupil & Co., at the Hague, as youngest employee under the direction of Mr Tersteeg, now a bright future seemed to lie in store for him. He boarded

  with the family Roos on the Beestenmarkt, where Theo afterwards lived also. It was a comfortable home where his material needs were perfectly provided for, but without any intellectual intercourse.

  This he found at the homes of various relations and friends of his mother, where he often visited, i.e. the Haanebeek’s, the van Stockum’s and aunt Sophy Carbentus with her three

  daughters, one of whom married our famous Dutch painter, A. Mauve, a second the less known painter, A. le Comte. Tersteeg sent to the parents good reports about Vincent’s zeal and capacities,

  and like his grandfather in his time, he is ‘the diligent studious youth’ whom everybody likes.




  When he had been at the Hague for three years, Theo, who is still at school at Oisterwijk (near Helvoirt, to which village their father has been called), comes to stay with him for a few days.

  It is after that visit in August 1872 that the correspondence between the two brothers begins, and from this, now faded, yellow, almost childish, little note it is carried on uninterruptedly until

  Vincent’s death, when a half-finished letter to Theo was found on him, of which the desponding ‘que veux-tu’ (what can I say) at the end, seems like a gesture of resignation with

  which he parted from life.




  The principal events of both their lives are mentioned in the letters and are completed in this biographical notice by particulars, either heard from Theo himself, or found in the correspondence

  of the parents with Theo, also preserved in full. (Vincent’s letters to his parents were unfortunately destroyed.) They date from January 1873, when Theo then only fifteen years old, went to

  Brussels to be also brought up as an art dealer.




  These letters, full of the tenderest love and care for the boy who left home at such a tender age – ‘well Theo you are quite a man now at fifteen,’ says his

  mother in one of her letters; the boy to whom they clung so fondly, because he, more than any of the other children, repays their love with never failing tenderness and devotion, and grows up to be

  ‘the crowning glory of their old age,’ as they were so fond of calling him – these letters tell of all the small events of daily life at the parsonage; what flowers were growing

  in the garden, and how the fruit trees bore, if the nightingale had been heard yet, what visitors had come, what the little sisters and brother were doing, what was the text of father’s

  sermon, and among all this, many particulars about Vincent.




  In 1873 the latter has been appointed to the firm in London. When leaving the Hague he gets a splendid testimonial from Mr Tersteeg, who also writes to the parents that at the gallery everybody

  likes to deal with Vincent – amateurs, clients, as well as painters – and that he certainly will succeed in his profession. ‘It is a great satisfaction that he can close the first

  period of his career in that way, and withal he has remained just as simple as he was before,’ writes mother. At first everything goes well with him in London; Uncle Vincent has given him

  introductions to some of his friends and he busies himself with great pleasure in his work; he earns a salary of £90 a year, and though living is expensive, he manages to lay by some money to

  send home now and then. Like a real business man he buys himself a top hat, ‘you cannot be in London without one,’ and he enjoys his daily trips from the suburbs to the gallery in

  Southampton Street in the city.




  His first boarding-house is kept by two ladies, who own two parrots, the place is good but somewhat expensive for him, therefore he moves in August to the house of Mrs Loyer, a curate’s

  widow from the south of France, who with her daughter Ursula keeps a day school for little children. Here he spends the happiest year of his life. Ursula makes a deep impression upon him –

  ‘I never saw nor dreamt of anything like the love between her and her mother’ he writes to one of his sisters, and: ‘love her for my sake’.




  He does not mention it to his parents, for he has not even confessed his love to Ursula herself, but his letters home are radiant with happiness. He writes that he enjoys his life so much

  – ‘Oh fulness of rich life, your gift Oh God.’1




  In September an acquaintance is going over to London and undertook to carry a parcel for Vincent, and it is characteristic to hear that it contains, among other things, a

  bunch of grass leaves and a wreath of oak leaves, made at home during the holidays by Theo, who has meanwhile been appointed from Brussels to the House Goupil at the Hague. Vincent must have

  something in his room to remind him of the beloved fields and woods.




  He celebrates a happy Christmas with the Loyers, and in those days he sends home now and then a little drawing, from his house and the street and from the interior of his room, ‘so that we

  can exactly imagine how it looks, it is so well drawn,’ writes his mother. In this period he seems to have weighed the possibility of becoming a painter; afterwards from Drenthe he writes to

  Theo: ‘how often have I stood drawing on the Thames Embankment, as I went home from Southampton Street in the evening – and the result was nihil; had there been somebody then to tell me

  what perspective was, how much trouble would have been spared me, how much farther should I be now.’




  At that time he now and then met Matthew Maris,2 but was too bashful to speak out freely to him, and shut up all his longings and desires within himself

  – he had still a long road of sorrow to go ere he could reach his goal.




  In January his salary is raised and until spring his letters remain cheerful and happy; he intends to visit Holland in July and before that time seems to have spoken to Ursula of his love. Alas

  it turns out that she is already engaged to somebody, who boarded with them before Vincent came. He tries all his influence to make her break this engagement but does not succeed, and with this

  first great sorrow there comes a change in his character; when he comes home for the holidays he is thin, silent, dejected, a changed being. But he draws a great deal. Mother writes:

  ‘Vincent made many a nice drawing, he drew the bedroom window and the front door, all that part of the house, and also a large sketch of those houses in London upon which their window looks

  out; it is a delightful talent, that can be of great value to him.’




  Accompanied by his eldest sister, who wants to find a situation, he returns to London; he takes furnished rooms in Ivy Cottage, 395 Kensington New Road, and there without any family life he

  grows more and more silent and depressed and also more and more religious.




  His parents were glad he left the Loyers – ‘there were too many secrets and it was not a family like others; but it must have been a great disappointment to him

  that his illusions were not realized,’ father writes, and mother complains, ‘the evenings are so long already and his work finishes early, he must be lonely, if it only does not harm

  him’.




  They feel uneasy and worried about his solitary, secluded life. Uncle Vincent also insists upon his mixing more with other people, ‘that is just as necessary as to learn business’;

  but the depressed mood continues, letters home grow more and more scarce, and mother begins to think that the London fog depresses him and that even a temporary change might do him good –

  ‘poor boy, he means so well, but I believe things are very hard for him just now’.




  In October 1874, Uncle Vincent effects indeed a short removal to the firm in Paris, but Vincent himself is little pleased by this, in fact he is so angry that he does not write home, to the

  great grief of his parents. ‘He is only in a bad temper,’ his sister says, and Theo comforts, ‘he is doing all right’.




  Towards the end of December he returns to London where he takes the same rooms and leads the same retired life. Now for the first time the word eccentric is applied to him. His love for

  drawing has ceased, but he reads much and the quotation from Renan that closes the London period clearly shows what filled his thoughts and how he aimed even then at the high ideal: ‘to

  sacrifice all personal desires, to realize great things, to obtain nobleness of mind, to surpass the vulgarity in which the existence of nearly all individuals is spent.’ He did not know yet

  which way he had to go to reach that aim.




  In May 1875, he is placed permanently in Paris and assigned especially to the picture gallery, where he feels himself quite out of place; he is more at home in his ‘cabin’, the

  little room at Montmartre where, morning and evening, he reads the Bible with his young friend, Harry Gladwell, than among the mondaine Parisian public.




  His parents read from his letters that things are not going well, and when he comes home at Christmas and everything is talked over, father writes to Theo: ‘I almost think that Vincent had

  better leave Goupil in two or three months; there is so much that is good in him, but yet it may be necessary for him to change his position, he is certainly not happy.’ And they love him too

  well to persuade him to stay in a place where he would be unhappy; he wants to live for others, to be useful, to bring about something great, how he does not know as yet, but not in

  an art gallery. On his return from Holland he has the decisive interview with Mr Boussod (the son-in-law and successsor of Mr Goupil) that ends with his dismissal on the 1st

  of April, and he accepts it without bringing in any excuses for himself. One of the grievances against him was that he had gone home to Holland for Christmas and New Year, the busiest time for

  business in Paris.




  In his letters he seems to take it rather lightly, but he feels how gloomily and threateningly the clouds begin to gather around him. At the age of twenty-three years he is now thrown out of

  employment, without any chance of a better career; Uncle Vincent is deeply disappointed in his namesake and washes his hands of him; his parents are well-meaning, but they cannot do much for him

  having been obliged to touch their capital for the education of their children. (The pastor’s salary was about 820 guilders a year.) Vincent has had his share, now others must have theirs. It

  seems that Theo who becomes so soon the helper and adviser of all, has already at that time suggested Vincent’s becoming a painter, but for the moment he will not hear of it. His father

  speaks of a position in a museum or advises him to open a small art gallery for himself, as Uncle Vincent and Uncle Cor have done before; he would then be able to follow his own ideas about art and

  be no longer obliged to sell pictures which he considered bad – but his heart again draws him to England and he plans to become a teacher.




  Through an advertisement, in April 1876 he gets a position in Ramsgate at Mr Stokes’, who moves his school in July to Isleworth. He received only board and lodging, but no salary, so he

  soon accepts another position at the somewhat richer school of Mr Jones, a Methodist preacher, where Vincent acts finally as a kind of curate.




  His letters home are gloomy. ‘It seems as if something were threatening me,’ he writes, and his parents perceive full well that teaching does not satisfy him. They suggest his

  studying for a French or German college certificate, but he will not hear of it. ‘I wish he could find some work in connection with art or nature,’ writes his mother, who understands

  what is going on within him. With the force of despair he clings to religion, in which he tries to find satisfaction for his craving for beauty, as well as for his longing to live for others. At

  times he seems to intoxicate himself with the sweet melodious words of the English texts and hymns, the romantic charm of the little village church, and the lovely, holy atmosphere that envelops

  the English service. His letters in those days bear an almost morbid sensitiveness. Often and often he speaks about a position related to the church – but when he comes home for Christmas, it is decided that he will not go back to Isleworth, because there is absolutely no prospect for the future. He remains on friendly terms with Mr Jones, who

  afterwards comes to stay a few days at the Nuenen parsonage, and whom he later meets in Belgium. Once more Uncle Vincent uses his influence and procures for him a place in the bookshop of

  Blussé and Braam at Dordrecht. He accepts it, but without great enthusiasm. Characteristic are the words written to Theo by one of the sisters. ‘You think that he is something more

  than an ordinary human being, but I think it would be much better if he thought himself just an ordinary being.’ Another sister writes, ‘His religion makes him absolutely dull and

  unsociable.’




  To preach the Gospel still seems to him the only desirable thing, and at last an attempt is made to enable him to begin the study of Theology. The uncles in Amsterdam promised to give their aid;

  he can live with Uncle Jan van Gogh, Commandant of the Navy Yard, which will be a great saving of expenses: Uncle Stricker finds out the best teacher in the classical languages, the well-known Dr

  Mendes da Costa, and gives him some lessons himself; in the art gallery at Uncle Cor’s he can satisfy his love for pictures and prints and so everybody tries to make it easy for him, all

  except Uncle Vincent, who is strongly opposed to the plan and will not help to forward it – in which he proved to be right after all. Full of courage Vincent sets to work, he must first

  prepare himself for a State examination before he can be admitted to the University; it will take him seven years ere he is ready; anxiously the parents ask themselves whether he will have the

  strength to persevere, and whether he who has never been used to regular study will be able to force himself to it at the age of twenty-four.




  That period in Amsterdam, from May 1877 to 1878 is one long tale of woe. After the first half-year Vincent begins to lose ardour and courage; the writing of exercises and the study of grammar is

  not what he wants – he desires to comfort and cheer people by bringing them the Gospel – and surely he does not need so much learning for that! He actually longs for practical

  work, and when at last his teacher also perceives that Vincent never will succeed, he advises him to give up the study. In the Handelsblad of the 30th of November 1910, Dr Mendes da Costa

  writes his personal recollections of the afterwards so famous pupil, of whom he tells many characteristic particulars: his nervous, strange appearance, that yet was not without charm, his fervent

  intention to study well, his peculiar habit of self-discipline, self-chastisement, and finally his total unfitness for regular study. Not along that path was he to reach his

  goal! Openly he confesses that he is glad things have gone so far and that he can look towards his future with more courage than when he devoted himself hopelessly to Theological study, which

  period he afterwards called ‘the worst time of his life’.




  He will remain ‘humble’ and now wants to become an Evangelist in Belgium; for this no certificates are required, no Latin nor Greek; only three months at the school of Evangelisation

  at Brussels – where lessons are free and only board and lodging are charged for – and he can get his nomination. In July he travels thither with his father, accompanied by Mr Jones who

  on his way to Belgium has spent a few days with them at Etten, and together they visit the different members of the Committee of Evangelisation: the Rev. van den Brink from Rousselaere, Rev.

  Pietersen from Malines and Rev. de Jong from Brussels. Vincent explained his case clearly and made a very good impression. His father writes: ‘His stay abroad and that last year at Amsterdam

  have not been quite fruitless after all, and when he takes the trouble to exert himself he shows that he has learned and observed much in the school of life,’ and Vincent consequently is

  accepted as a pupil. But the parents regard this new experiment with fresh anxiety: ‘I am always so afraid that wherever Vincent may be or whatever he may do, he will spoil everything by his

  eccentricity, his queer ideas and views on life,’ his mother writes, and his father adds, ‘It grieves us so when we see that he literally knows no joy of life, but always walks with

  bent head, whilst we did all in our power to bring him to an honourable position! It seems as if he deliberately chooses the most difficult path.’




  In fact that was Vincent’s aim – to humble himself, to forget himself, to sacrifice himself, ‘mourir à soi-meme’ (to sacrifice every personal

  desire), that was the ideal he tried to reach as long as he sought his refuge in religion, and he never did a thing by halves. But to follow the paths trodden by others, to submit to the will of

  other people, that was not in his character, he wanted to work out his own salvation. Towards the end of August he arrives at the school at Brussels, which had only been recently opened and counted

  but three pupils; in the class of Mr Bokma he certainly was the most advanced, but he does not feel at home at the school, he is ‘like a fish out of water’ he says, and is ridiculed for

  his peculiarities in dress and manners. He also misses the talent of extemporizing and is therefore obliged to read his lectures from manuscript; but the greatest objection

  against him is, ‘he is not submissive’, and when the three months have elapsed he does not get his nomination. Though he writes it [in letter 126 of 15 November 1878] in an off-hand way

  to Theo, he seems to have been greatly upset by it. His father receives a letter from Brussels, probably from the school, saying that Vincent is weak and thin, does not sleep, and is in a nervous

  and excited state, so that the best thing will be to come and take him home.




  Immediately he travels to Brussels and succeeds in arranging everything for the best. Vincent goes at his own risk to the Borinage where he boards at 30 fr. a month with M. Van der Haegen, Rue

  de L’Eglise 39, at Paturages near Mons. He teaches the children in the evening, visits the poor and gives lectures from the Bible, and when in January the Committee meets, he will again try

  to get a nomination. The intercourse with the people there pleases him very well; in his leisure hours he draws large maps of Palestine, of which his father orders four at 10 fr. apiece, and at

  last, in January 1879, he gets a temporary nomination for six months at Wasmes at 50 fr. a month for which he must give Bible lectures, teach the children and visit the sick – the work of his

  heart. His first letters from there are very contented and he devotes himself heart and soul to his work, especially the practical part of it; his greatest interest is in nursing the sick and

  wounded. Soon, however, he falls back to the old exaggerations – he tries to put into practice the doctrines of Jesus, gives away everything, his money, clothes and bed, he leaves the good

  boarding-house at Denis, in Wasmes, and retires to a miserable hut where every comfort is wanting. Already they had written to his parents about it and when, towards the end of February, the Rev.

  Rochelieu comes for inspection, the bomb explodes, for so much zeal is too much for the committee and a person who neglects himself so cannot be an example to other people. The Church Council at

  Wasmes have a meeting and they agree that if he does not listen to reason he will lose his position. He himself takes it rather coolly. ‘What shall we do now?’ he writes, ‘Jesus

  was also very calm in the storm, perhaps it must grow worse before it grows better.’ Again his father goes to him, and succeeds in stilling the storm; he brings him back to the old

  boarding-house, advises him to be less exaggerated in his work, and for some time everything is all right, at least he writes that no reproofs are made. About that time a heavy mine explosion

  occurs and a strike breaks out, so Vincent can devote himself completely to the miners, and his mother in her naive religious faith writes, ‘Vincent’s letters

  that contain so many interesting things, prove that with all his singularities he yet shows a warm interest in the poor and that surely will not remain unobserved by God.’ In that same time

  he also writes that he tries to sketch the dresses and tools of the miners and will show them when he comes home. In July bad tidings come again, ‘he does not comply with the wishes of

  the committee and nothing will change him. It seems that he is deaf to all remarks that are made to him,’ writes his mother, and when the six months of his temporary nomination are past, he

  is not appointed again, but they give him three months to look out for another position. He leaves Wasmes and travels on foot to Brussels to ask the Rev. Pietersen, who has moved thither from

  Malines, for advice. The latter paints in his leisure hours and has a studio, which probably was the reason why Vincent went to him for help. Tired and hot, exhausted and in a nervous condition he

  arrives there and so neglected was his appearance that the daughter of the house who opened the door for him was frightened, called for her father and ran away. The Rev. Pietersen received him

  kindly; procured him good lodgings for the night, invited him to his table the next day, showed him the studio, and as Vincent had brought some of his sketches of the miners, they probably talked

  as much about drawing and painting as about Evangelisation.




  ‘Vincent gives me the impression of somebody who stands in his own light,’ writes the Rev. Pietersen to his parents, and mother adds, ‘how lucky it is that still he always

  finds somebody who helps him on, as now the Rev. Pietersen has.’




  In accordance with the latter’s advice, Vincent resolves to stay in the Borinage at his own expense, as he cannot be in the service of the committee, and that he will board with the

  Evangelist Frank, at Cuesmes. About the middle of August, at his parents’ request, he visits them again at Etten. ‘He looks well, except for his clothes, he reads Dickens all day and

  speaks only when he is addressed, about his future not a single word,’ writes his mother. What could he say about his future? Did it ever look more hopeless than it did now? His illusion of

  bringing through the Gospel comfort and cheer into the miserable lives of the miners had gradually been lost in the bitter strife between doubt and religion, which he had to fight at that time, and

  which made him lose his former faith in God. (The Bible texts and religious reflections which became more and more rare in his last letters now stop entirely.) No other

  thing has taken its place yet; he draws much and reads much, among others, Dickens, Beecher Stowe, Victor Hugo and Michelet, but it is all done without system or aim. Back in the Borinage he

  wanders about without work, without friends and very often without bread, for though he receives money from home and from Theo, they cannot give him more than is strictly necessary, and as it comes

  in at very irregular times and Vincent is a very poor financier, there are days, and even weeks when he is quite without money.




  In October Theo, who has got a permanent position at Goupil’s in Paris, comes to visit him on his journey thither and tries in vain to bring him to some fixed plan for the future; he is

  not yet ripe to take any resolution; before he becomes conscious of his real power he has still to struggle through the awful winter of 1879–80, that saddest, most hopeless time of his never

  very fortunate life. In these days he undertakes, with ten francs in his pocket, the hopeless expedition to Courrières, the dwelling place of Jules Breton, whose pictures and poems he so

  much admires, and with whom he secretly hopes to come in contact in some way or other. But the only thing that becomes visible to him is the inhospitable exterior of Breton’s newly built

  studio and he lacks the courage to introduce himself. Disappointed in his hope, he has to undertake the long journey home; his money is all spent, generally he sleeps in the open air or in a hay

  loft. Sometimes he exchanges a drawing for a piece of bread, and he undergoes so much fatigue and want that his health always suffered from the consequences. In spring he comes once more to the

  vicarage of Etten and speaks again about going to London. ‘If he really wants it, I shall enable him to go,’ writes his father, but finally he returns again to the Borinage and lives

  that summer of 1880 at the house of the miner, Charles Decrucq at Cuesmes. There he writes in July a wonderfully touching letter (133) that tells of what is going on in his innermost self –

  ‘My only anxiety is what can I do . . . could I not be of use, and good for something?’ It is the old wish, the old longing to serve and comfort humanity, which made him write

  afterwards, when he had found his calling, ‘And in a picture I wish to say something that would console as music does.’ Now in the days of deepest discouragement and darkness at last

  the light begins to dawn. Not in books shall he find satisfaction, not in literature find his work, as his letters sometimes suggested, he turns back to his old love, ‘I said to myself,

  I’ll take up my pencil again, I will take up drawing, and from that moment everything has changed for me.’ It sounds like a cry of deliverance, and once more,

  ‘do not fear for me, if I can continue my work I will succeed.’ At last he has found his work and herewith the mental equilibrium is restored; he no longer doubts of himself and however

  difficult or heavy his life may become, the inward serenity, the conviction of his own calling never more deserts him.




  The little room in the house of the miner Decrucq, which he has to share with the children, is his first studio. There he begins his painter’s career with the first original drawing of

  miners who go to work in the early morning. There he copies with restless activity the large drawings after Millet, and when the room is getting too narrow for him, he takes his work out into the

  garden.




  When the cold autumn weather prevents his doing this, and as his surroundings at Cuesmes are getting too narrow for him, he moves in October to Brussels where he settles in a small hotel on the

  Bd du Midi 72. He is longing to see pictures again, but above all he hopes to become acquainted with other artists. Deep in his heart there was such a great longing for sympathy, for kindness and

  friendship, and though his difficult character generally prevented him from finding this and left him isolated in life, yet he always kept on longing for somebody with whom he could live and

  work.




  Theo, who meanwhile had acquired a good position in Paris, could now assist him in word and deed. He brought Vincent into relation with the young Dutch painter van Rappard, who had worked some

  time in Paris and now studied at the academy at Brussels. At first the acquaintance did not progress, for the outward difference between the rich young nobleman and the neglected wanderer from the

  Borinage was too great to ripen the acquaintance at once into friendship; yet the artistic taste and opinions of both were too similar for them not to find each other; a friendship arose –

  perhaps the only one that Vincent ever had in Holland – it lasted for five years and then was broken through a misunderstanding, which van Rappard always regretted, though he acknowledged

  that intercourse with Vincent was very difficult.




  ‘I remember as if it happened yesterday the moment of our first meeting at Brussels when he came into my room at nine o’clock in the morning, how at first we did not get on very well

  together, but so much the better after we had worked together a few times,’ writes van Rappard to Vincent’s mother after the latter’s death. And again, ‘whoever has

  witnessed this wrestling, struggling and sorrowful existence could not but feel sympathy for the man who demanded so much of himself, that it ruined body and mind. He belonged

  to the race that produces the great artists.




  ‘Though Vincent and I had been separated the last years by a misunderstanding which I have often regretted – I have never ceased to remember him and the time we spent together with

  great sympathy.




  ‘Whenever in the future I shall remember that time, and it is always a delight for me to recall the past, the characteristic figure of Vincent will appear to me in such a melancholy but

  clear light, the struggling and wrestling, fanatic, gloomy Vincent, who used to flare up so often and was so irritable, but who still deserved friendship and admiration for his noble mind and

  highly artistic qualities.’




  Vincent’s own opinion of van Rappard is clearly shown in his letters. A second acquaintance that Vincent made through Theo, with the painter Roelofs, was of less-during importance.

  Roelof’s advice to enter the Academy was not followed by Vincent, perhaps they did not admit him because he was not far enough advanced, but probably he had had more than enough of academical

  institutions and theories, and in painting as well as in theology he preferred to go his own way; that is the reason he did not come into contact with other Dutch painters who were at that same

  time at the Academy at Brussels, for instance, Haverman.




  He studied anatomy by himself, drew diligently from the living model, and from a letter to his father it seems that he took lessons in perspective from a poor painter at 1.50 fr. a lesson of two

  hours: it has not been possible to fix the name of the painter, it may have been Madiol.




  At the end of the winter when van Rappard goes away, in whose studio he has often worked because his own little bedroom was too small, he longs for other surroundings, especially for the

  country; the expenses in Brussels are also somewhat heavy, and he thinks it will be cheapest to go to his parents at Etten where he has board and lodging free and can use all the money he receives,

  for his work.




  He stays there for eight months, and this summer of 1881 is again a happy time for him. First, van Rappard comes to stay with him and he too always remembers with pleasure his stay at the

  vicarage, ‘And my visit at Etten! I see you still sitting at the window when I came in,’ he writes to Vincent’s mother in the letter quoted above, ‘I still enjoy that

  beautiful walk we all took together that first evening, through the fields and along the small path! And our excursions to Seppen, Passievaart, Liesbosch, I often look through

  my sketch books for them.’




  In the beginning of August Theo comes over from Paris; shortly after Vincent makes an excursion to the Hague to consult about his work with Mauve, who firmly encourages him, so that he continues

  with great animation, and finally in those days he meets for the second time a woman who has great influence on his life. Among the guests who spent that summer at the vicarage at Etten was a

  cousin from Amsterdam – a young widow [referred to in his letters as ‘K.’] with her little four-year-old son. Quite absorbed in her grief over the loss of her husband, whom she

  had loved so tenderly, she was unconscious of the impression which her beauty and touching sorrow made on the cousin, who was a few years her junior. ‘He was so kind to my little boy,’

  she said when she afterwards remembered that time. Vincent who had great love for children, tried to win the heart of the mother by great devotion to the child. They walked and talked much

  together, and he has also drawn a portrait of her (which seems to have been lost), but the thought of a more intimate relation did not occur to her, and when Vincent spoke to her at last about his

  love, a very decided no was the immediate reply. She went back to Amsterdam and never saw him again. But Vincent could not abide by her decision, and with his innate tenacity he keeps on

  persevering and hoping for a change in her feelings for him; when his letters are not answered, he accuses both his and her parents of opposing the match, and only a visit to Amsterdam, where she

  refuses to see him, convinces him of the utter hopelessness of his love.




  ‘He fancied that he loved me,’ she said afterwards, but for him it was sad earnest, and her refusal becomes a turning point in his life. If she had returned his love it would perhaps

  have been a spur to him to acquire a social position, he would have had to provide for her and her child; as it is he loses all worldly ambition and in the future lives only for his work, without

  taking one step to make himself independent. He cannot bear to stay in Etten any longer, he has become irritable and nervous, his relations to his parents become strained, and after a violent

  altercation with his father, in December he leaves suddenly for the Hague.




  The two years he spends there are, for his work, a very important period of which his letters give a perfect description. His low spirits rise at first, by the change of surroundings and the

  intercourse with Mauve, but the feeling of having been slighted and wronged does not leave him and he feels himself utterly abandoned. When he meets in January a poor

  neglected woman [referred to in the letters as ‘Christine’ and ‘Sien’] approaching her confinement, he takes her under his protection, partly from pity but also to fill the

  great void in his life. ‘I hope there is no harm in his so-called model. Bad connections often arise from a feeling of loneliness, of dissatisfaction,’ writes his father to Theo, who is

  always the confidant of both parties and has to listen to all the complaints and worries; father is not far wrong. Vincent could not be alone, he wanted to live for somebody, he wanted a wife and

  children, and as the woman he loved had rejected him, he took the first unhappy woman who crossed his path, with children that were not his own. At first he feigns to be happy and tries to convince

  Theo in every letter how wisely and well he has acted, and the touching care and tenderness with which he surrounds the woman when she leaves the hospital after her confinement, strike us painfully

  when we think on whom that treasure of love was lavished. He prides himself now on having a family of his own, but when their living together has become a fact and he is continually associated with

  a coarse, uneducated woman, marked by smallpox, who speaks with a low accent and has a spiteful character, who is addicted to liquor and smokes cigars, whose past life has not been irreproachable,

  and who draws him into all kinds of intrigues with her family, he soon writes no more about his home life; even the posing, by which she won him (she sat for the beautiful drawing, Sorrow),

  and of which he had expected so much, soon ceases altogether. This unfortunate adventure deprives him of the sympathy of all in the Hague who took an interest in him. Neither Mauve nor Tersteeg

  could approve of his taking upon himself the cares of a family, and such a family!, while he was financially dependent on his younger brother. Acquaintances and relatives are shocked to see him

  walk about with such a slovenly woman; nobody cares to associate with him any longer and his home life is such that nobody comes to visit him. The solitude around him becomes greater and greater

  and as usual it is only Theo who understands and continues to help him.




  When the latter comes to visit Vincent for the second time in the Hague, in the summer of 1883, and witnesses the situation – finds the household neglected, everything in bad condition and

  Vincent deeply in debt – he too advises to let the woman go her own way as she is not fit for a regulated life. She herself had already felt that things could not continue like that, because Vincent wants too much money for his painting to leave enough for the support of her and the children, and she was already planning with her mother to

  earn money in another way. Vincent himself feels that Theo is right, and in his heart he longs for a change of surroundings, and liberty to go where his work calls him, but it costs him a bitter

  struggle to give up what he had taken upon himself, and to leave the poor woman to her fate. Till the last he defends her, and excuses her for her faults with the sublime words, ‘she has

  never seen what is good, so how can she be good?’




  In those days of inward strife he allows Theo to read deeper than ever into his heart. These last letters from the Hague [letters 313 to 322] give the key to many things that were

  incomprehensible until now. For the first time he speaks openly about what has happened at the time of his dismissal from Goupil, for the first time he explains his strange indifference to show his

  own work or to try to make it productive, when he writes, ‘it is so painful for me to speak to people. I am not afraid to do so, but I know I make a disagreeable impression; I am so much

  afraid that my efforts to introduce myself will do me more harm than good,’ and how naively he adds, ‘human brains cannot bear everything as is shown by van Rappard, who had brain fever

  and now has gone to Germany to recover.’ As if he wanted to say: ‘do not let me make efforts to know strange people, as the same thing might happen to me.’ Once more he touches

  the old love story of Etten, ‘a single word made me feel that nothing is changed in me about it, that it is and remains a wound, which I carry with me, but it lies deep and will never heal,

  it will remain in after years just what it was the first day.’ And he expresses openly how different his life would have been without this disappointment in his love.




  When at last he starts alone in September for Drenthe, he has made all possible provisions for the woman and the children, and there is a sorrowful parting, especially from the little boy to

  whom he had become attached as if it were his own child.




  The trip to Drenthe proves a failure instead of doing him good. But some of his most beautiful letters date from those days. The season was too far advanced, the country too inhospitable, and

  what Vincent so ardently desired – to come into contact with some artists, for instance, Lieberman – was not realized.




  Bitter loneliness and want of money put a too heavy strain on his nerves. He is afraid of falling ill, and in December 1883 hastens back to the parental vicarage, the only

  place where he can find a safe shelter.




  His father had meanwhile left Etten and been nominated to Nuenen, a village in the neighbourhood of Eindhoven, and the new place and surroundings pleased Vincent so well that instead of paying a

  short visit, as first was his intention, he stays there for two years.




  To paint the Brabant landscape and the Brabant types is now his aim, and to accomplish that aim he overlooks all other difficulties.




  To live together with his parents was for him as well as for them a very difficult thing. In a small village vicarage, where nothing can happen without the whole village knowing it, a painter is

  obviously an anomaly; how much more a painter like Vincent, who had so completely broken with all formalities, conventionalities and with all religion, and who was the last person in the world to

  conform himself to other people. On both sides there must have been great love and great patience to put up with it so long. When his letters from Drenthe to his parents became more and more

  melancholy, his father anxiously had written to Theo, ‘it seems to me that Vincent is again in a wrong mood. He seems to be in a melancholy state of mind; but how can it be otherwise?

  Whenever he looks back into the past and recalls to his memory how he has broken with all former relations, it must be very painful to him. If he had only the courage to think of the possibility

  that the cause of much which has resulted from his eccentricity lies in himself. I don’t think he ever feels any self-reproach, only soreness against others, especially against the gentlemen

  at the Hague. We must be very careful with him for he seems to be in a fit of contrariness.’




  And they are so careful. When he comes back to them of his own will, they receive him with so much love and try all in their power to make him comfortable; they are proud too of the

  progress in his work, of which it must be said they had no great expectations at first. ‘Do you not like the pen drawings of the tower that Vincent sent you? It seems to come to him so

  easily,’ writes his father in the first days of December to Theo, and then on the twentieth of December, ‘You will be longing to know how things are getting on with Vincent. At first it

  seemed hopeless, but by and by things have arranged themselves, especially since we approved of his staying here for some time to make studies. He wanted the inner room fitted up for him; we did

  not think it a very fit abode for him, but we had a nice stove put there; as the room had a stone floor we had it covered with boards, and made it as comfortable as possible: we put a bed in it on

  a wooden stand, that it might not be too damp. Now we will make the room nicely warm and dry, so that it may turn out better than we expected. I proposed to have a large

  window made in it but he did not want that. In short, with real courage we undertake this new experiment and we intend to leave him perfectly free in his peculiarities of dress, etc. The people

  here have seen him anyhow, and though it is a pity he is so reserved in manner, we cannot change the fact of his being eccentric. . . .’ ‘He seems to occupy himself a great deal with

  your plans for the future, but you will be wise enough not to let yourself be influenced to do things that are not practical, for alas that certainly is his foible. One thing is certain, he works

  hard and finds here lots of subjects, he has made already several drawings, which we like very much.’ Such is the feeling from their side; but Vincent is not satisfied with all that kindness

  and wants a deeper understanding of his innermost self than his parents can give, however much they try. When about the middle of January 1884 his mother meets with an accident and is brought home

  from Helmond with a broken leg, the relations become less strained. Vincent who has become an expert nurse in the Borinage, helps to nurse his mother with the greatest devotion, and in every letter

  of that time they praise him for his faithful help. ‘Vincent is untiring, and the rest of his time he devotes to his painting and drawing with the greatest zeal.’ ‘The doctor

  praised Vincent for his ability and care.’ ‘Vincent proves an ideal nurse and at the same time he works with the greatest ambition.’ ‘I fervently hope that his work may find

  success for it is edifying to see how much he works,’ is told in the letters of February.




  Vincent’s own letters at that time are gloomy and full of complaints and unjust reproaches to Theo that he never sells anything for him and does not even try to, ending at last with the

  bitter cry: ‘A wife you cannot give me, a child you cannot give me, work you cannot give me – money yes, but what is the use of it when I must miss all the rest!’ And Theo, who

  always understands him, never gives a sharp or angry answer to those reproaches: a light sarcasm is the only reply he sometimes gives to such outbursts. In May Vincent’s spirits rise somewhat

  on his moving into a new, larger studio, two rooms in the house of the Sexton of the Catholic church. Shortly after, van Rappard comes to spend some time with him again, and besides, Vincent had

  during his mother’s illness come more in contact with neighbours and friends of the village, who daily came to visit the patient, so that he writes in those days, ‘I have had a much

  pleasanter time with the people here than at first, which is worth a great deal to me, for one must have some distraction now and then, and when one feels too lonely the work

  suffers from it.’ But with a prophetic glance he continues, ‘One must keep in mind however that these things do not always last.’ Indeed, difficult times were approaching for him

  again. With one of his mother’s visitors, the youngest of three sisters who lived next door to the vicarage, he had soon got into a more intimate relation; she was much older than he and

  neither beautiful nor gifted, but she had an active mind and a kind heart. She often visited the poor with Vincent; they walked much together, and on her part at least the friendship soon changed

  into love. As to Vincent, though his letters do not give the impression of any passionate feeling for her (the fact is he writes very little about it), yet he seems to have been inclined to marry

  her, but the family vehemently protested against the plan, and violent scenes took place between the sisters, which were not conducive to keep Vincent in a pleasant mood.




  ‘Vincent works hard but he is not very sociable,’ writes his mother in July, and it will get worse still, for the young woman, violently excited by the scenes with her sisters, tries

  to commit suicide, which fails, but shocks her health so much that she had to be nursed at a doctor’s in Utrecht. She quite recovered and after half a year she came back to Nuenen, but their

  relations were broken for ever and the whole affair left Vincent in a gloomy, bitter mood.




  For his parents the consequences were also painful, because the neighbours avoided the vicarage from that time, not wishing to meet Vincent, ‘which is a great privation for me, but it is

  not your mother’s way to complain,’ the latter writes in October of that year. It is in those days that van Rappard once more comes to stay with them. ‘He is not a talkative

  person, but a hard worker,’ writes mother, and van Rappard himself writes in 1890, in the letter to her, quoted above, ‘how often do I think of the studies of the weavers which he made

  in Nuenen, with what intensity of feeling did he depict their lives, what deep melancholy pervaded them, however clumsy the execution of his work may have been then. And what beautiful studies he

  made of the old church tower in the churchyard. I always remember a moonlight effect of it, which particularly struck me at that time. When I think of those studies in those two rooms near the

  church, it recalls to my mind so many memories, and reminds me of the whole surroundings, the cheerful hospitable vicarage with its beautiful garden, the family Begemann, our visits to the weavers and peasants, how I did enjoy it all.’




  After van Rappard’s visit Vincent has no other distraction than a few acquaintances in Eindhoven, with whom he has come into contact through the house painter, who furnishes his colours.

  They are a former goldsmith, Hermans, a tanner, Kersemakers, and also a telegraphist whose name is not mentioned, all of whom Vincent initiates into the art of painting. Mr Kersemakers has recorded

  his reminiscences of that time in the weekly De Amsterdammer of the 14th and 21st of April 1912, and gives among others the following description of Vincent’s studio, which according

  to him looked quite ‘Bohemian’.




  ‘It was quite astonishing to see how crowded the place was with pictures, with drawings in water-colour and chalk; heads of men and women whose negro-like turned up noses, projecting

  jaw-bones and large ears were strongly accentuated, the fists callous and furrowed; weavers and weavers’ looms, women driving the shuttle, peasants planting potatoes, women busy weaving,

  innumerable still-lives, at least ten studies in oil of the old church tower at Nuenen, of which he was so fond, and which he had painted in all seasons of the year and in all weathers (afterwards

  this old tower was demolished by the Nuenen Vandals, as he called them).




  ‘Heaps of ashes around the stove, which never had seen brush or polish, a few frayed out rush-bottomed chairs, and a cupboard with at least thirty different birds’ nests, all kinds

  of moss and plants brought from the heath, some stuffed birds, shuttles, spinning-wheel, bedwarmer, all sorts of farmers’ tools, old caps and hats, dirty women’s bonnets, wooden shoes,

  etc.’ He also tells about their trip to Amsterdam (in the autumn of 1885) to see the ‘Ryksmuseum’, how Vincent in his rough ulster and his inseparable fur cap was calmly sitting

  painting a few small views of the town in the waiting room of the station; how they saw the Rembrandts in the museum, how Vincent could not tear himself away from the Jewish Bride and said

  at last, ‘Do you know that I would give ten years of my life if I could sit here before this picture a fortnight, with nothing but a crust of dry bread for food.’re before this picture

  a fortnight, with nothing but a crust of dry bread for food.’




  Dry bread was nothing unusual to him; according to Kersemakers, Vincent never ate it otherwise, in order not to indulge himself too much. His impression of Vincent’s work is given as

  follows: ‘At my first visit in Nuenen I could not understand it at all, it was so totally different from what I expected, it was so strong, so coarse and unfinished

  that I could not possibly admire it or see anything in it.




  ‘At my second visit the impression was already much better, though I thought in my ignorance that he could not draw, or totally neglected the drawing of the figures, and I took the liberty

  of telling him straight out. I did not make him angry, he only laughed and said: “You will think differently about it later on.”’




  Meanwhile the winter days passed on gloomily enough at the vicarage. ‘For Vincent I should wish that the winter were over, he cannot work out of doors and the long evenings are not

  profitable for his work. We often think that it would be better for him to be among people of his own profession, but we cannot dictate to him,’ writes his father in December, and mother

  complains, ‘how is it possible to behave so unkindly. If he has wishes for the future, let him exert himself, he is still young enough; it is almost impossible to bear it. I think he wants a

  change, perhaps he might find something that would give him inspiration, here it is always the same thing and he never speaks to anyone.’ But still she finds one luminous point to mention:

  ‘we saw that Vincent received a book from you, he seems to read it with much pleasure. I heard him say “that is a fine book”, so you have given him great pleasure. I am glad that

  we regularly get books from the reading club; the illustrations in the magazines interest him most, and then there is the Nouvelle Revue, etc., every week something new is a great pleasure

  to him.’ Incessantly Vincent continues his work in the gloomy cottages of peasants and weavers. ‘I never began a year of a more gloomy aspect, in a more gloomy mood,’ he writes on

  New Year’s Day 1885. ‘He seems to become more and more estranged from us,’ complains his father, whose letters became more and more melancholy, as if he is not equal to the

  difficulties of living together with his gifted, unmanageable son, and feels himself helpless against his unbridled violence. ‘This morning I talked things over with Vincent; he was in a kind

  mood and said there was no particular reason for his being depressed,’ says the latter, ‘may he meet with success anyhow,’ are the last words he writes about Vincent in a letter

  of the 25th of March. Two days later, coming home from a long walk across the heath, he fell down on the threshold of his home and was carried lifeless into the house. Hard times followed in the

  vicarage; mother could remain there another year, but for Vincent it brought immediate changes. In consequence of several disagreeable discussions with the other members of

  the family, he resolved to live no longer at the vicarage, but took up his abode in the studio, where he stayed from May to November. Henceforth there is not a single thing to distract him from his

  aim – to paint the peasant life. He spends those months in the cottages of the weavers or with the peasants in the field. ‘It is a fine thing to be right in the snow in the winter,

  right in the yellow leaves in autumn, in summer right in the ripe corn, in spring right in the grass, always with the peasant girls and reapers, in summer under the open skies, in winter near the

  open fireplace, and to know that it has always been so and will always be’ [letter 425]. He is now in harmony with himself and his surroundings, and when he sends Theo his first great

  picture, The Potato-Eaters, he can say in good reason that it is ‘from the heart of peasant life’.




  An uninterrupted series of studies follow each other; the cottages of the old peasants and their witch-like wives, the old church tower of the cemetery, the autumn landscapes and the

  birds’ nests, a number of still-lives and the strong drawings of the Brabant peasants. In Nuenen he also writes the beautiful passages about colour, in reference to Delacroix’s laws of

  colours. It seems strange to hear him, who was called afterwards one of the first Impressionists, even Neo-Impressionists, declare, ‘there is a school I think of Impressionists, but I do not

  know much about it’ [letter 402], and in his usual spirit of contradiction he afterwards adds, ‘from what you have told me about Impressionism I have learned that it is different from

  what I thought it was, but as to me I find Israëls for instance so enormous that I am little curious about or desirous of anything different or new. I think I shall change a great deal in

  touch and colour but I expect to become rather more dark than lighter.’ As soon as he came to France he thought differently of it.




  During the last days of his stay in Nuenen difficulties arise between him and the Catholic priest, who has long since looked askance at the studio next to his church, and now forbids his

  parishioners to pose for Vincent. The latter was already thinking about a change. He gives notice of leaving his studio the first of May, but starts for Antwerp, towards the end of November,

  leaving all his Brabant work behind. When in May his mother also leaves Nuenen, everything belonging to Vincent is packed in cases, left in care of a carpenter in Breda and – forgotten! After

  several years the carpenter finally sold everything to a junk dealer.




  What Theo’s opinion about his brother was at that time is shown in the letter to his sister of the 13th of October 1885, in which he writes: ‘Vincent is one of

  those who has gone through all the experiences of life and has retired from the world, now we must wait and see if he has genius. I think he has . . . If he succeeds in his work he will be a great

  man. As to the worldly success, it will perhaps be with him as with Heyerdahl3: appreciated by some but not understood by the public at large. Those however

  who care whether there is really something in the artist, or if it is only outward shine, will respect him, and in my opinion that will be sufficient revenge for the animosity shown him by so many

  others.’




  In Antwerp Vincent rents for 25 fr. a month a little room over a small paint-dealer’s shop in the ‘Rue des Images’ 194. It is but a very small room but he makes it cosy with

  Japanese prints on the wall, and when he has rented a stove and a lamp, he feels himself safe and writes with profound satisfaction, ‘no fear of my being bored I can assure you’. On the

  contrary he spends the three months of his stay in one feverish intoxication of work. The town life which he has missed so long fascinates him; he has not eyes enough to see, nor hands enough to

  paint: to make portraits of all the interesting types he meets is his delight, and in order to pay the models he sacrifices everything he has. As for food he does not bother. ‘If I receive

  money my first hunger is not for food, though I have fasted ever so long, but the desire for painting is ever so much stronger, and I start at once hunting for models till there is nothing

  left,’ he writes.




  When he sees in January that he cannot go on like that, the expenses being too heavy, he becomes a pupil of the Academy, where the teaching is free and where he finds models every day. Hageman

  and de Baseleer were there among his fellow pupils and from Holland there was Briët. In the evening he worked again in the drawing class and after that, often till late at night, at a club

  where they also draw from life. His health cannot stand such a strain and in the beginning of February he writes that he is literally worn out and exhausted, according to the doctor it is complete

  prostration. He seems not to think about giving up his work, however, though he begins to make projects for a change, for the course at the Academy is almost finished and he has already had many

  disagreements with his teachers, for he is much too independent and self-willed to follow their guidance. Something must be done. Theo thinks it better for Vincent to go back to Brabant, but he himself wants to go to Paris. Then Theo proposes to wait at least till June, when he shall have rented a larger apartment, but with his usual impetuosity Vincent

  cannot wait so long, and one morning in the end of February, Theo receives in his office at the Boulevard a little note written in chalk, that Vincent had arrived and awaits him in the Salon

  Carré of the Louvre. Probably he left all his work in Antwerp, perhaps his landlord the paint-dealer kept it for the unpaid rent of the room. Certain it is that none of the studies about

  which he writes, the view of the Park, of the Cathedral, Het Steen, etc., ever has been found again.




  The meeting in the Louvre took place, and since then Vincent lived with Theo in the latter’s apartment in the Rue de Laval. As there was no room for a studio he worked during the first

  month at Cormon’s studio, which did not satisfy him at all, but when they moved in June to the Rue Lepic 54, on Montmartre, he had there a studio of his own and never went back to Cormon.
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